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Consolidated Income Statement
(In millions of Rubles, except per share amounts)

Years ended 31 December
Note

Revenue

2.1

2016

2015

316,275

313,383

95,157

84,410

Operating expenses
Cost of revenue
Sales and marketing expenses

2.2

19,254

18,122

General and administrative expenses

2.3

80,725

78,494

3.1, 3.8

51,925

48,173

3.2

7,881

7,313

3.2.3

3,400

—

Depreciation
Amortisation
Goodwill impairment
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Total operating expenses
Operating profit
Finance costs
Finance income

849

913

259,191

237,425

57,084

75,958

(19,094)

(14,779)

1,810

2,508

Share of loss of associates and joint ventures

3.3

(2,651)

(649)

Other non-operating loss

5.2

(2,906)

(2,949)

(Loss)/gain on financial instruments, net

3.4.3

Foreign exchange gain/(loss), net
Profit before tax
Income tax expense

2.4

Profit for the year

(235)

1,502

1,822

(10,041)

35,830

51,550

10,241

12,334

25,589

39,216

25,496

39,041

93

175

25,589

39,216

43

66

Profit for the year
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
Attributable to non-controlling interest

Earnings per share, Rubles
Basic and diluted, profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company

2.5

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income
(In millions of Rubles)

Years ended 31 December
Note

Profit for the year

2016

2015

25,589

39,216

Other comprehensive income/(loss) items that may be reclassified
to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Foreign currency translation difference, net of tax of nil

875

(1,068)

(1,889)

(2)

Net other comprehensive loss that may be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods

(1,014)

(1,070)

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

24,575

38,146

24,299

38,247

Net movement on cash flow hedges, net of tax

3.4.3.

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
Attributable to non-controlling interest

276

(101)

24,575

38,146

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
(In millions of Rubles)

As of 31 December
Note

2016

2015

Non-current assets
Property and equipment
Intangible assets, other than goodwill
Goodwill
Investments in associates and joint ventures
Non-current financial assets
Non-current non-financial assets
Deferred tax assets
Total non-current assets

3.1
3.2.1
3.2.2
3.3
3.4
3.7
2.4

237,155
61,295
30,549
45,234
4,799
3,039
1,199
383,270

234,417
61,800
33,909
47,885
4,102
2,894
832
385,839

Current assets
Inventory
Current non-financial assets
Prepaid income taxes
Trade and other receivables
Other current financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

3.6
3.7
2.4
3.5
3.4
3.4.1

9,354
5,051
1,992
19,352
10,842
31,922
78,513

8,684
6,649
2,641
21,156
26,973
17,449
83,552

461,783

469,391

4

124,166
(43)
124,123

147,898
(147)
147,751

Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings
Other non-current financial liabilities
Non-current non-financial liabilities
Provisions
Deferred tax liabilities
Total non-current liabilities

3.4
3.4
3.7
3.8
2.4

195,724
6,653
2,605
3,888
20,812
229,682

172,643
5,033
2,435
4,603
20,358
205,072

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Loans and borrowings
Dividends payable
Other current financial liabilities
Current non-financial liabilities
Income taxes payable
Total current liabilities

3.4
3.4
4
3.4
3.7
2.4

43,581
39,389
2,839
3,538
18,186
445
107,978

45,961
47,037
—
2,900
20,567
103
116,568

461,783

469,391

Assets

Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests
Total equity

Total equity and liabilities

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
(In millions of Rubles)

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
Ordinary shares
Note

As of 1 January
2015

Treasury shares

Number of
shares Amount

620,000,000

Number of
shares

526 24,299,033

Capital
surplus

Retained
earnings

(17,387) 12,567

161,422

Amount

Other
capital
reserves
(Note 4)

Noncontrolling
Total
interests

561 157,689

Total
equity

144 157,833

Net profit

—

—

—

—

—

    39,041

—

39,041

175

39,216

Other
comprehensive loss

—

—

—

—

—

—

(794)

(794)

(276)

(1,070)

39,041

(794)

38,247

(101)

38,146

Total
comprehensive
income/(loss)
Dividends

—

—

—

—

—

(48,038)

Contribution of noncontrolling interest

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

7

7

Dividends to noncontrolling interests

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(197)

(197)

(17,387) 12,567

152,425

As of 31 December
2015

620,000,000

526 24,299,033

— (48,038)

(233) 147,898

— (48,038)

(147) 147,751

Net profit

—

—

—

—

—

25,496

—

25,496

93

25,589

Other
comprehensive gain/
(loss)

—

—

—

—

—

—

(1,197)

(1,197)

183

(1,014)

Total
comprehensive
income/(loss)

—

—

—

—

—

25,496

(1,197)

24,299

276

24,575

—

—

—

—

—

(48,031)

—

(48,031)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(17,387) 12,567

129,890

Dividends
Dividends to noncontrolling interests
As of 31 December
2016

4

620,000,000

526 24,299,033

(1,430) 124,166

— (48,031)
(172)

(172)

(43) 124,123

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(In millions of Rubles)

Years ended 31 December
Note

Operating activities
Profit before tax
Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows:
Depreciation
Amortisation
Goodwill imparement
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Loss/(gain) on financial instruments, net
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss, net
Share of loss of associates and joint ventures
Change in impairment allowance for receivables and other non-financial assets
Finance costs
Finance income
Working capital adjustments:
Increase in inventory
Increase in trade and other receivables
Decrease/(increase) in current non-financial assets
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables
Decrease in current non-financial liabilities
Change in VAT, net
Income tax refunded
Income tax paid
Net cash flows from operating activities
Investing activities
Purchase of property, equipment and intangible assets
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Purchase of interest in joint venture and of loans receivable
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired
Escrow cash deposit
Payment of deferred and contingent consideration
Net change in short-term demand deposits
Loans granted
Interest received
Net cash flows used in investing activities
Financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings, net of fees paid
Repayment of borrowings
Interest paid
Dividends paid to equity holders of the Company
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests
Lease payments
Other
Net cash flows used in financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Net foreign exchange difference
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

3.1, 3.8
3.2
3.2.3
3.4.3
3.3

3.3
5.3
5.3

4

3.4.1

2016

2015

35,830

51,550

51,925
7,881
3,400
849
235
(1,822)
2,651
2,528
19,094
(1,810)

48,173
7,313
—
913
(1,502)
10,041
649
2,100
14,779
(2,508)

(669)
(2,288)
2,055
(6,315)
(812)
(1,002)
19
(8,791)
102,958

(2,188)
(6,405)
(1,692)
6,040
(1,788)
(1,121)
619
(11,095)
113,878

(57,892)
709
—
(62)
401
(2,421)
12,461
(3,388)
1,152
(49,040)

(62,956)
304
(15,759)
(1,495)
(690)
(9,046)
32,033
—
2,571
(55,038)

125,581
(97,077)
(19,219)
(45,192)
(172)
(27)
—
(36,106)

68,007
(75,299)
(14,599)
(48,038)
(197)
—
7
(70,119)

17,812
(3,339)
17,449
31,922

(11,279)
6,505
22,223
17,449

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(In millions of Rubles)

1.

General

1.1. About the Company
Public Joint Stock Company MegaFon (“MegaFon”, the “Company” and, together with its consolidated subsidiaries, the “Group”) is a
company incorporated under the laws of the Russian Federation (“Russia”) and registered in the Unified State Register of Legal Entities
under number 1027809169585. Its registered office is at 30 Kadashevskaya Embankment, Moscow, 115035, Russian Federation.
MegaFon is a leading integrated telecommunications operator in Russia and provides a broad range of voice, data and other
telecommunication services to retail customers, businesses, government clients and other telecommunication services providers.
MegaFon lists its ordinary shares on the Moscow Exchange and its ordinary shares represented by Global Depositary Receipts, or GDRs,
on the London Stock Exchange, in each case under the symbol ‘‘MFON’’.
As of 31 December 2016, the Group is primarily owned by USM group, which is an indirect controlling shareholder, and by Telia Company
and affiliates (Telia group), another major shareholder with significant influence over the Group. Telia Company is a publicly owned
Swedish company.

1.2. Basis of preparation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, unless disclosed otherwise. The consolidated
financial statements are presented in millions of Rubles, except for per share amounts which are in Rubles or unless otherwise
indicated.
The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Accountant
on 15 March 2017.
Foreign currency translation
The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Rubles, which is also the functional currency of PJSC MegaFon and its
principal subsidiaries.
The functional currency of CJSC “TT mobile”, the Company’s 75% owned subsidiary in Tajikistan, is the US dollar as a majority of its
revenues, costs, property and equipment purchases, debt and trade liabilities is either priced, incurred, payable or otherwise measured
in US dollars.
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions or fair value measurement where items are re-measured to their fair value. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the ‘Foreign exchange gain/(loss), net’ line in profit or loss.
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Rubles at the rate of exchange prevailing on the reporting date and
their statements of comprehensive income are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the dates of the transactions. The exchange
differences arising on the translation are recognised in other comprehensive income (“OCI”).
Change in presentation
The Company changed the presentation of interest paid and interest received in its consolidated statement of cash flows to more
directly link interest paid or received to the loans or other financial assets and liabilities to which it relates. Interest paid has been
moved from operating activities to financing activities in the amount of 19,219 (2015: 13,100), interest paid and capitalised has been
moved from investing activities to financing activities in the amount of 1,755 (2015: 1,499); and interest received has been moved from
operating activities to investing activities in the amount of 1,152 (2015: 2,571).

12

MEGAFON

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2016

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

1.3. Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as of 31 December 2016.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date when such control ceases. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting
period as the parent company, using consistent accounting policies.
Profit or loss and each component of OCI are attributed to the equity holders of the Company and to the non-controlling interests, even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

1.4. Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements required management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that
affect the amounts reported in the consolidated statement of financial position, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of other comprehensive income and the accompanying disclosures. Subsequent revisions or corrections made to these
assumptions and estimates hereafter could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of affected
assets or liabilities in future periods.
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made various judgments. Those which management has
assessed to have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements have been discussed
in the individual notes for the related financial statement line items: revenue, income taxes, property and equipment, intangible assets,
investments in associates and joint ventures, financial assets and liabilities, provisions, share-based compensation, and business
combinations.
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are also
described in the individual notes for the related financial statement line items below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates
on parameters available when the consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about
future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Group.
Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

1.5. Significant accounting policies
The significant accounting policies have been discussed in the individual notes for the related financial statement line items.
Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
During 2016 the Group applied the following amendments to accounting standards for the first time:
IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative – Amendments to IAS 1
The amendments gave more guidance on disclosing information in the financial statements, presenting the line items and aggregating
information in the financial statements, including the notes, and ordering and grouping of the notes. The amendments did not impact
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

1.6. Standards issued but not yet effective
The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements, and are applicable to the Group, are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these standards when they become
effective unless otherwise stated below.
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
In May 2014 the IASB issued IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, a comprehensive revenue recognition guidance that
replaces the following previous revenue recognition standards: International Accounting Standards (“IAS”) 18, Revenue, IAS 11,
Construction Contracts, International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) Interpretation 13, Customer Loyalty
Programmes, IFRIC 15, Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18, Transfers of Assets from Customers, and SIC-31,
Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

1.6. Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
The core principle of the Standard is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services
to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services.
During 2015 the IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 15, which deferred the effective date of the Standard by one year to 1 January 2018.
Earlier application is permitted. The Standard provides a choice of transition methods.
The Group will adopt IFRS 15 from 1 January 2018. The Group is evaluating the possible effect of the Standard on its consolidated
financial statements and the transition method to be used.
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
In July 2014 the IASB completed its process to replace IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, with the issuance
of the final amendments to IFRS 9. IFRS 9 (July 2014) is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Earlier
application is permitted. IFRS 9 (July 2014) should be applied retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors. IFRS 9 (July 2014) should not be applied to items that have been derecognised at the date of initial
application.
The Group will adopt IFRS 9 (July 2014) from 1 January 2018. The Group is evaluating the effect of the Standard on its consolidated
financial statements.
IFRS 16 Leases
In January 2016 the IASB issued IFRS 16, Leases, which sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of leases and replaces previous guidance on leases. The Standard requires lessees to present right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities on the balance sheet for all leases (with limited exceptions).
The Standard is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Earlier application is permitted for entities
that apply IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, at or before the date of initial application of IFRS 16.
A lessee should apply IFRS 16 to its leases either: (a) retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented applying IAS 8; or (b)
retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying IFRS 16 recognised at the date of initial application.
The Group is evaluating the possible effect of the Standard on its consolidated financial statements, the best date for its adoption and
the transition method to be used.
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture – Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28
In September 2014 the IASB issued, Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture –
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28, which contains narrow-scope amendments to IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, and IAS
28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. The main consequence of the amendments is that full gain or loss is recognised when
a transaction involves a business (whether it is held in a subsidiary or not).
A partial gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if those assets are held in
a subsidiary.
Originally, the amendments were effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. In December 2015 the IASB issued
amendments which extended the effective date to a date to be determined by the IASB. The Group does not expect these amendments
to have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses – Amendments to IAS 12
In January 2016 the IASB issued, Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses – Amendments to IAS 12, which clarifies how
to account for deferred tax assets related to debt instruments measured at fair value. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2017. The Group will adopt them from that date. The Group does not expect these amendments to have
an impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

1.6. Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
Disclosure Initiative – Amendments to IAS 7
In February 2016 the IASB issued, Disclosure Initiative – Amendments to IAS 7, which requires companies to provide information about
changes in their financing liabilities. The amendments will help investors to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities, including changes from cash flows and non-cash changes. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2017. The Group will adopt them from that date. The amendments affect presentation and disclosure only and have no
impact on the Group’s financial position or performance.
Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions – Amendments to IFRS 2
In June 2016 the IASB issued, Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions – Amendments to IFRS 2, which
clarifies how to account for certain types of share-based payment transactions.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The Group will adopt them from that date. The
Group does not expect these amendments to have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
Transfers of Investment Property – Amendments to IAS 40
In December 2016 the IASB issued, Transfers of Investment Property – Amendments to IAS 40, which clarifies that an entity shall
transfer a property to, or from, investment property when, and only when, there is an observable evidence of the change in use. The
amendments give examples of the relevant evidence. In isolation, a change in management’s intentions for the use of a property
does not provide evidence of a change in use. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
The Group will adopt them from that date. The Group does not expect these amendments to have a material impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration
In December 2016 the IASB issued IFRIC Interpretation 22, Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration, which clarifies IAS
21, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, specifying that on payment or receipt of advance consideration, the respective
asset, expense or income to which this consideration relates should subsequently be recorded using the exchange rate as of the date
the advance consideration was paid or received. The Interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
The Interpretation has no impact on the Group’s financial position or performance as it does not change the way the Group has been
accounting for advance consideration paid or received in foreign currencies.
Improvements to IFRSs (December 2016)
The amendments issued as a result of the Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle introduced relatively minor changes to
clarify guidance in existing standards. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The Group
does not expect these amendments to have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

2.

Income Statement

2.1. Revenue
Accounting policies
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable for the sale of
goods and services in the ordinary course of the Group's activities, net of value added taxes, returns and discounts.
The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, when it is probable that future economic benefits
will flow to the applicable entity and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Group's activities as described below. The
Group bases its estimate of return on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the
specifics of each arrangement.
Service revenue
Service revenue is generally recognised when the services are rendered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

2.1. Revenue (continued)
Wireless revenue
The Group earns wireless revenues for usage of its cellular system, which include airtime charges from contract and prepaid
subscribers, monthly contract fees, interconnect fees from other wireless and wireline operators, roaming charges, data transfer
charges, and charges for value added services ("VAS"). Interconnect revenue includes revenues from wireless and  wireline operators
that was earned from terminating traffic fromwireline operators that was earned from terminating traffic from other operators.
Roaming revenues include revenues from customers who roam outside their selected home coverage area and revenues from other
mobile carriers for roaming by their customers using the network of the Group. VAS include SMS, provision of content and media and
commissions for mobile payments.
The revenue from provision of content is presented net of related costs when the Group acts as an agent of the content providers
while gross revenues and related costs are recorded when the Group is a primary obligor in the arrangement. The reporting of revenue
on a net versus gross basis, depending on an analysis of the Group’s involvement as either principal or agent, involves management’s
judgment.
(a) Loyalty programme
The Group operates a loyalty programme which allows customers to accumulate awards for usage of the Group’s cellular network. The
awards can then be redeemed for free services, subject to a minimum number of awards being obtained. The portion of consideration
received is allocated to the awards based on their fair value and deferred until the award credits are redeemed or expire. The Group
estimates the fair value of awards to a customer by applying a statistical analysis. Inputs to the models include making assumptions
about expected redemption rates, the mix of services that will be available for redemption in the future and customer preferences. Such
estimates are subject to significant uncertainty.
(b) Multiple element arrangements
The Group enters into multiple element arrangements in which a customer may purchase a combination of equipment (e.g. handsets)
and telecommunication services (e.g. airtime, data, and other services). The Group allocates consideration received from subscribers to
the separate units of accounting based on their relative fair values but not exceeding the contractual consideration receivable for the
delivered element. Revenues allocated to the delivered equipment and related costs are recognised in the accompanying consolidated
statements of comprehensive income at the time of sale provided that other conditions for revenue recognition are met. Amounts
allocated to telecommunication services are deferred and recognised as revenue over the period of rendering the services. Allocation of
each separable component of a bundled offer based on the individual components’ relative fair values involves estimates and judgment.
(c) Roaming rebates
The Group enters into roaming discount agreements with a number of wireless operators. According to the agreements the Group is
committed to provide and entitled to receive a discount that is generally dependent on the volume of roaming traffic generated by the
respective subscribers. The Group uses actual traffic data to estimate the amounts of rebates to be received or granted. Such estimates
are adjusted and updated on a regular basis. The Group accounts for discounts received as a reduction of roaming expenses and rebates
granted as reduction of roaming revenue.
The Group takes into account the terms of the various roaming discount agreements in order to determine the appropriate presentation
of the amounts receivable from and payable to its roaming partners in its consolidated statement of financial position. Amounts of
rebates earned from and given to roaming partners are included in trade and other receivables and payables, respectively, in the
accompanying consolidated statement of financial position.
Management has to make estimates relating to revenue recognition, relying to some extent on information from other operators on
values of services delivered. Management also makes estimates of the final outcome in instances where the other parties dispute the
amounts charged.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

2.1. Revenue (continued)
Wireline revenue
The Group earns wireline revenues for usage of its fixed-line network, which include payments from individual, corporate and
government subscribers for local and long-distance telecommunications and data transfer services. Charges are based upon usage
(e.g., minutes of traffic processed), period of time (e.g., monthly service fees) or other established fee schedules. Wireline revenues also
include interconnection charges from wireless and wireline operators for terminating calls on the Group’s wireline networks. Revenue
from service contracts is recognised when the services are rendered. Billings received in advance of service being rendered are deferred
and recognised as revenue as the service is rendered.
Sales of equipment and accessories
Revenue from the sale of equipment and accessories is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods
have passed to the buyer, usually on delivery of the goods.

2.2. Sales and marketing expenses
Accounting policies
Dealer commissions for connection of new subscribers are expensed as incurred. The Group’s third party dealer arrangements call for
provision of post-sales services and revenue sharing. As a result, dealer commissions are recognised as the services are performed,
generally during a twelve-month period from the date a new subscriber is activated.
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred.

2.3. General and administrative expenses
Included in general and administrative expenses for the years ended 31 December are:

Employee benefits and related social charges
Operating lease expense

2016

2015

27,556
18,291

28,095
16,866

Government pension funds
The Group contributes to local state pension funds and social funds on behalf of its employees. The contributions are expensed as
incurred. Contributions for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 were 5,564 and 5,514, respectively.

2.4. Income taxes
Accounting policies
Current income tax
The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates
to items recognised in OCI or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in OCI or directly in equity, respectively.
The current income tax is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countries
in which the Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which the applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. If the applicable tax regulation
is subject to interpretation, the Company establishes a provision where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the
tax authorities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

2.4. Income taxes (continued)
Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is recognised using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.
Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except for deferred income tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is
controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Significant estimates
The Group assesses the recoverability of deferred tax assets based on estimates of future earnings.
Actual Group income tax receipts and payments could differ from the estimates made by the Group as a result of changes in tax
legislation or unforeseen transactions that could affect tax balances. The expected resolution of uncertain tax positions is based upon
management’s judgment of the likelihood of sustaining a position taken through tax audits, tax courts and/or arbitration, if necessary.
Circumstances and interpretations of the amount due or likelihood of a position being sustained may change during the settlement
process.
Disclosures
The following presents the significant components of the Group’s income tax expense for the years ended 31 December:

Current income tax:
Current income tax charge
Adjustments recognised for current tax of prior periods
Deferred tax
Income tax expense

2016

2015

9,026
581
634
10,241

11,450
223
661
12,334

Income tax is calculated at 20% of taxable profit for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015.
The reconciliation between the average effective income tax rate and the applicable Russian enacted statutory tax rate is as follows:

Statutory income tax rate
Non-deductible expenses
Effect of intra-group transactions
Deferred tax assets write-off
Effect of income tax preferences
Goodwill impairment (Note 3.2.3)
Other
Effective income tax rate

2016

2015

20.0%
6.6%
0.9%
0.1%
(1.3%)
1.9%
0.4%
28.6%

20.0%
2.9%
0.9%
0.2%
(0.3%)
—
0.2%
23.9%

The effect of intragroup transactions, in the table above, represents taxable intra-group income.
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2.4. Income taxes (continued)
Deferred tax relates to the following:
Statement of financial
position as of 31 December

Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Derivative financial instruments
Investments in joint ventures and subsidiaries
Tax loss carry-forwards
Revenue recognition
Accrued employee benefits
Accrued expenses
Other movements and temporary differences
Deferred tax expense
Net deferred tax liabilities
Reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

Income statement
for the years

2016

2015

2016

2015

(16,844)
(9,316)
993
(153)
3,627
519
193
1,011
357

(15,087)
(8,991)
(659)
(94)
2,779
641
461
821
603

1,832
325
(1,180)
59
(848)
122
268
(190)
246
634

2,202
(242)
35
49
(457)
(19)
(83)
(948)
124
661

(19,613)

(19,526)

1,199
(20,812)

832
(20,358)

The Group recognises deferred tax assets in respect of tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that realisation of tax losses against
future taxable profit is probable. Deferred tax assets related to tax losses of the Group’s subsidiaries are recognised based on the tax
planning opportunities that would be implemented, if necessary, to prevent unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets in respect of the tax losses are attributable to the following subsidiaries:

Scartel
MegaFon Retail
Other
Balance at end of year

2016

2015

2,583
1,021
23
3,627

2,180
599
—
2,779

In order to utilise tax losses the Group is able to implement appropriate tax planning strategies depending on the results of these
subsidiaries in subsequent periods. The tax planning strategies may include, among others, merging of the respective subsidiaries with
PJSC MegaFon which is expected to have sufficient pretax income to utilise the accumulated tax losses of these subsidiaries.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets in the consolidated statement of financial position amounted to 2,757 as of 31 December 2016 (2015:
2,716). Unrecognised deferred tax assets arose on the acquisition of subsidiaries and joint ventures due to the difference between the
accounting and tax bases of the subsidiaries and joint ventures acquired and are not expected to be realised due to lack of appropriate
taxable profits.
Reconciliation of net deferred tax liabilities for the years ended 31 December is as follows:

Balance at beginning of year
Tax expense during the year
Translation adjustment of foreign operations
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 5.3)
Deferred tax on cash flow hedges in OCI (Note 3.4.3)
Balance at end of year

www.megafon.com

2016

2015

19,526
634
(75)
—
(472)
19,613

18,790
661
62
14
(1)
19,526
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2.5. Earnings per share
Accounting policies
Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) are computed by dividing net profit available to shareholders of the Company by the weighted-average
number of ordinary shares outstanding for the period.
Diluted earnings per share are computed by dividing adjusted net profit available to shareholders by the weighted-average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the period increased to include the number of additional ordinary shares that would be issued on
the conversion of all the potentially dilutive securities into ordinary shares. Potentially dilutive securities include outstanding stock
options and convertible debt instruments.
Disclosures
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted EPS for the years ended 31 December:

Numerator:
Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
Denominator:
Weighted-average ordinary shares outstanding
EPS – basic and diluted, Rubles

2016

2015

25,496

39,041

595,700,967

595,700,967

43

66

There were no potentially dilutive securities outstanding at 31 December 2016 or 2015.

3.

Assets and Liabilities

3.1. Property and equipment
Accounting policies
Property and equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. Cost includes all costs directly
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition for its intended use. Depreciation is recorded on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful life of the asset.
Depreciation expenses are based on management’s estimates of residual value, the depreciation method used and the useful lives of
property and equipment. Estimates may change due to technological developments, competition, changes in market conditions and
other factors, and may result in changes in estimated useful lives and depreciation charges. The actual economic lives of long-lived
assets may be different from the estimated useful lives. A change in estimated useful lives is accounted for prospectively as a change in
accounting estimate.
The estimated useful lives are as follows:
Telecommunications network
Buildings and structures
Vehicles, office and other equipment

3 to 20 years
7 to 50 years
3 to 7 years

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful lives of the assets. The lease term
includes renewals when such renewals are reasonably certain.
The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.
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3.1. Property and equipment (continued)
Repair and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. The cost of major renovations and other subsequent expenditure is included
in the carrying amount of the asset or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
The present value of the expected cost for the decommissioning of an asset after its use is included in the cost of the respective asset.
Please refer to Note 3.8 for further information about the provision for decommissioning liabilities.
At the time of retirement or other disposition of property or equipment, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the
accounts and any resulting gain or loss is recorded in profit or loss.
The Group, jointly with other operators, plans, develops and uses telecommunication networks. The activities are accounted for as joint
operations. Accordingly, the Group records its share of the jointly held assets and its share of the jointly incurred expenses.
Finance leases
Finance leases, that is, leases that transfer substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item to the
Group, are capitalised at the commencement of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of
the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in finance costs in profit or
loss.
A leased asset is depreciated over the lesser of the lease term or the useful life of the asset.
The Group has entered into long-term leases of telecommunication assets. The Group has determined that, based on an evaluation
of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease term constituting a major part of the economic life of the asset, it
obtains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these assets. Accordingly, it accounts for the contracts as finance leases.
At the commencement of the lease term the Group recognises finance leases as assets and liabilities at the present value of the
minimum lease payments. In determining the present value of the minimum lease payments, assumptions and estimates are made in
relation to discount rates, the expected costs for services and taxes to be paid by and reimbursed to the lessor, and long-term inflation
forecasts where the lease agreements include provisions to adjust the lease payments for inflation.
Capitalised borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset during the construction phase
that necessarily takes a substantial period of time are capitalised as part of property and equipment until the asset is ready for use.
All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest, related foreign exchange
differences, and other costs that the Group incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
Impairment
The Group tests long-lived assets, other than goodwill, for impairment when circumstances indicate there may be a potential
impairment.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of (1) an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and (2) value in use. The recoverable amount is determined for each  
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets.
Impairment losses relating to continuing operations are recognised in profit or loss in the expense categories which are consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.
For assets, other than goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses no longer exist or have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s
recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying
amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss.
Estimating recoverable amounts of assets is based on management’s evaluations, including estimates of applicable market rates, if the
market approach is used, or future cash flows, discount rates, terminal growth rates, and assumptions about future market conditions,
if the income approach is used.
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3.1. Property and equipment (continued)
Disclosures
Property and equipment is as follows:
Telecommunications
network

Buildings and
structures

Vehicles, office
and other
equipment

Construction
in-progress

Total

Cost as of
1 January 2015
Additions
Acquisitions (Note 5.3)
Disposals
Put into use
Translation

378,167
—
320
(9,119)
53,562
2,232

68,757
—
—
(197)
5,583
723

26,748
—
3
(1,525)
2,378
905

26,242
58,278
14
(764)
(61,523)
292

499,914
58,278
337
(11,605)
—
4,152

31 December 2015
Additions
Acquisitions (Note 5.3)
Disposals
Put into use
Translation

425,162
—
3
(16,649)
56,980
(1,783)

74,866
—
—
(205)
2,215
(542)

28,509
—
—
(1,702)
2,059
(687)

22,539
58,104
—
(643)
(61,254)
(106)

551,076
58,104
3
(19,199)
—
(3,118)

31 December 2016

463,713

76,334

28,179

18,640

586,866

Depreciation as of
1 January 2015
Charge for the year
Disposals
Translation

(228,930)
(41,226)
8,441
(1,563)

(25,055)
(4,636)
58
(290)

(21,274)
(3,094)
1,500
(590)

—
—
—
—

(275,259)
(48,956)
9,999
(2,443)

31 December 2015
Charge for the year
Disposals
Translation

(263,278)
(44,941)
16,122
1,152

(29,923)
(4,958)
178
245

(23,458)
(2,984)
1,656
478

—
—
—
—

(316,659)
(52,883)
17,956
1,875

31 December 2016

(290,945)

(34,458)

(24,308)

—

(349,711)

Net book value:
31 December 2015
31 December 2016

161,884
172,768

44,943
41,876

5,051
3,871

22,539
18,640

234,417
237,155

Included in construction in-progress are advances to suppliers of network equipment of 1,659 and 1,293 as at 31 December 2016 and
2015, respectively.
Assets purchased under certain contracts with deferred payment terms in the amount of 736 (2015: 1,351) are pledged as security for
the related liabilities.
Finance leases
The carrying value of buildings and structures held under finance leases at 31 December 2016 was 3,701 (2015: 3,182). Leased assets are
pledged as security for the related finance lease liabilities.
Capitalised borrowing costs
Capitalised borrowing costs were 1,755 and 1,499 for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015, respectively. The rate used to
determine the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation was 8.8% and 7.0% for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015,
respectively.
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3.2. Intangible assets
3.2.1. Intangible assets, other than goodwill
Accounting policies
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business
combination is their fair value as of the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment, if any. Intangible assets consist principally of operating licences, frequencies, software and
customer base.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. The Group does not have intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives, other than goodwill. All intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives:
4G operating licences
Other operating licences
Frequencies
Software
Customer base
Other intangible assets

20 years
10 to 20 years
10 to 12 years
2 to 5 years
4 to 19 years
1 to 10 years

Amortisation expenses are based on management’s judgment as to the amortisation method to be used and its estimates of the useful
lives of the intangible assets. Estimates may change due to technological developments, competition, changes in market conditions
and other factors, and may result in changes in estimated useful lives and amortisation charges. Critical estimates of useful lives of
intangible assets are impacted by estimates of average customer relationship based on churn, remaining licence period and expected
developments in technology and markets. The actual economic lives of the assets may be different from the estimated useful lives.
A change in estimated useful lives is accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate.
Impairment
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. See Note 3.1 for further description of accounting policies for impairment testing of
nonfinancial assets.
Disclosures
Intangible assets, other than goodwill, are as follows:
4G
operating
licences

Other
operating
licences

Frequencies

Cost as of
1 January 2015
Additions
Acquisitions (Note 5.3)
Disposals
Translation

42,879
—
—
—
—

19,066
6,973
—
(30)
108

31 December 2015
Additions
Disposals
Translation

42,879
—
—
—

31 December 2016
Amortisation as of
1 January 2015
Charge for the year
Disposals
Translation

www.megafon.com

Software

Customer
base

Other
intangible
assets

Total

7,088
1,218
—
(398)
—

14,676
2,030
17
(2,401)
—

3,552
215
425
—
—

10,819
1,450
16
(3,738)
2

98,080
11,886
458
(6,567)
110

26,117
2,245
(5)
(78)

7,908
1,172
(545)
—

14,322
3,234
(1,759)
—

4,192
2
—
—

8,549
820
(1,346)
—

103,967
7,473
(3,655)
(78)

42,879

28,279

8,535

15,797

4,194

8,023

107,707

(2,668)
(2,143)
—
—

(16,602)
(510)
4
(105)

(2,532)
(906)
304
—

(9,785)
(2,480)
1,869
—

(1,753)
(588)
—
—

(7,313)
(686)
3,729
(2)

(40,653)
(7,313)
5,906
(107)
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3.2.1. Intangible assets, other than goodwill (continued)
4G
operating
licences

Other
operating
licences

Frequencies

31 December 2015
Charge for the year
Disposals
Translation

(4,811)
(2,144)
—
—

(17,213)
(652)
4
77

31 December 2016

(6,955)

Net book value:
31 December 2015
31 December 2016
Weighted-average remaining
amortisation period, years

Software

Customer
base

Other
intangible
assets

Total

(3,134)
(1,430)
492
—

(10,396)
(2,395)
1,726
—

(2,341)
(474)
—
—

(4,272)
(786)
1,337
—

(42,167)
(7,881)
3,559
77

(17,784)

(4,072)

(11,065)

(2,815)

(3,721)

(46,412)

38,068
35,924

8,904
10,495

4,774
4,463

3,926
4,732

1,851
1,379

4,277
4,302

61,800
61,295

18

`14

3

2

4

5

8

Operating licences and frequencies provide the Group with the exclusive right to utilise certain radio frequency spectrum to provide
wireless communication services.
Operating licences primarily consist of
several 2G licences,
●● a nationwide 3G licence,
●● a nationwide 4G licence to use 2.5–2.7 GHz spectrum (10x10 MHz band), and
●● a nationwide 4G licence to use 2.5–2.7 GHz spectrum (30x30 MHz band).
●●

These licences are integral to the wireless operations of the Group and any inability to extend existing licences on the same or
comparable terms could materially affect the Group’s business. While operating licences are issued for a fixed period, renewals of
these licences previously had occurred routinely and at nominal cost. The Group believes that there are currently no legal, regulatory,
contractual, competitive, economic or other factors that could result in delays in licence renewal, or even an outright refusal to renew.
Nationwide 3G and 4G (10x10 MHz band) licences were obtained by PJSC MegaFon at nominal cost in 2007 and 2012, respectively, but
require the Company to meet certain conditions, including capital commitments and coverage requirements (Note 5.7).
Acquisitions
In August 2015 MegaFon acquired 900/1,800 MHz band spectrum in the Samara, Astrakhan and Yaroslavl regions and the Chuvash
Republic through the purchase of 100% of the shares of JSC SMARTS-Samara, CJSC Astrakhan GSM, CJSC Yaroslavl GSM and
CJSC SMARTS-Cheboksary (together “SMARTS”), the subsidiaries of Russian regional mobile operator JSC SMARTS. The Group’s
management concluded that the assets and activities of the acquired companies are not capable of being conducted and managed as a
business, accordingly the acquisition of SMARTS was accounted for as an acquisition of assets. The purchase price totaled 5,745 at the
date of acquisition, consisting of cash consideration of 5,505 and a deferred payment with a fair value of 240 which was paid within six
months from the date of acquisition.
In October 2015 the Company successfully bid for 1800 MHz band spectrum in the Republic of Dagestan and the Karachay-Cherkess
Republic pursuant to a frequency distribution auction conducted by the Federal Service for Supervision of Communications, Information
Technology, and Mass Media of the Russian Federation (“Roskomnadzor”). The total consideration for the spectrum was 1,260.
3.2.2. Goodwill
Accounting policies
Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration transferred plus the fair value of any non-controlling interest in the acquired
company at the acquisition date over the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired. Goodwill is not amortised, but tested for
impairment at least annually (Note 3.2.3).
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
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3.2.2. Goodwill (continued)
Disclosures
The changes in the carrying value of goodwill, net of accumulated impairment losses of nil, for the years ended 31 December 2016 and
2015 are as follows:

Balance at beginning of year
Acquisitions (Note 5.3)
Goodwill impairment (Note 3.2.3)
Measurement period adjustments
Balance at end of year

2016

2015

33,909
40
(3,400)
—
30,549

32,292
1,641
—
(24)
33,909

3.2.3. Goodwill impairment
Accounting policies
Goodwill is not subject to amortisation and is tested annually for impairment as of 1 October or more frequently whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated from the acquisition date to each of
the cash-generating units (“CGUs”), or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. The Group
has allocated goodwill to the following CGUs: 1) integrated telecominucation services group of CGUs, 2) broadband internet CGU and 3)
GARS Holding Limited (“GARS”) CGU.
An impairment loss of associated goodwill is recognised for the amount by which the CGU’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of (1) a CGU’s fair value less costs to sell and (2) value in use. The recognised impairment
loss is not subsequently reversed.
Estimating recoverable amounts of assets and CGUs is based on management’s evaluations, including determining the appropriate
CGUs and estimates of applicable multiples, if the market approach is used, or future cash flows, discount rates, terminal growth rates,
and assumptions about future market conditions, if the income approach is used. Allocation of the carrying value of the assets being
tested between individual CGUs also requires management’s judgment.
Goodwill impairment test
The Group considers the relationship between market capitalisation and its book value, among other factors, when reviewing for
indicators of impairment. As of 31 December 2016, the market capitalisation of the Group was not below the book value of its equity.
Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to related CGUs and groups of CGUs as follows:
31 December
2016

2015

Integrated telecommunication services (group of CGUs)
Broadband internet CGU
GARS CGU
Total allocated goodwill

25,384
3,567
1,598
30,549

25,384
6,927
—
32,311

Unallocated:
GARS (Note 5.3)
Total goodwill

—
30,549

1,598
33,909

In assessing whether goodwill has been impaired, the carrying values of the CGUs (including goodwill) were compared with their
estimated recoverable amounts.
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3.2.3. Goodwill impairment (continued)
As a result of the annual test, a 3,400 impairment loss has been recognised in respect of goodwill allocated to Broadband internet CGU
in 2016, which reflects the rapid decline in returns in the retail broadband segment and revised management forecasts caused by the
current challenging economic environment and competitive pressures.
Integrated telecommunication services (group of CGUs)
The investment in the Euroset joint venture (Note 3.3) and the net assets of the Company’s own retail network have been allocated
to the integrated telecommunication services group of CGUs. Management has determined that the cash flows of Euroset and the
Company’s own retail network should not be considered to be independent of those from the integrated telecommunication services
group of CGUs, because of the level of the Company’s control over those retail assets and the extent of their integration with the
Company’s other operations.
The recoverable amount of the integrated telecommunication services group of CGUs has been determined based on its fair value less
costs to sell (Level 3). The fair value was estimated at 4 times operating income before depreciation and amortization and impairment
loss (“Adjusted OIBDA”), a multiple which is at the lower end of the range of Adjusted OIBDA multiples observed in the market for
acquisitions of similar businesses. The fair value was then reduced by 5% as an estimate of costs to sell the business.
Management believes that any change in any of these key assumptions which can currently be reasonably anticipated would not cause
the aggregate carrying amount of the integrated telecommunication services group of CGUs to exceed the aggregate recoverable
amount of this unit.
Broadband internet CGU
The recoverable amount of the broadband internet CGU, 11,040 as at 31 December 2016, has been determined by taking the mid-point
between the lowest estimate for value arrived at using discounted cash flow (“DCF”) projections and a higher value arrived at based on
quotes for peer companies’ shares.
The adjustment upwards of the DCF valuation is intended to reflect implementation of the Group’s strategies in respect of the
broadband business and its further integration with the telecommunication services group of CGUs which are not reflected in the DCF
projections.
Сash flow projections included the financial budgets approved by senior management covering 2017 and budget projections for a further
seven-year period. The extended forecast period has been used for testing to take into account better growth rates expected to occur
after the unfavourable economic environment foreseen for the next two years.
The calculation of value in use based on DCF projections for the broadband internet unit is particularly sensitive to the following
assumptions: average monthly revenue per user (“ARPU”), discount rates, market share in Moscow, salary growth index and the ratio of
capital expenditures (“CAPEX”) to revenues. The key assumptions used in the forecast are as follows::
31 December

Range of (decrease)/growth of ARPU for retail customers during the forecast period by
Pre-tax discount rate
Market share in Moscow (in terms of retail customer base)
Annual salary growth rate during the forecast period
CAPEX/Revenue ratio target in the long-term

2016

2015

(1.0%)-0%
12.8%
6.4%-6.7%
4.8%-5.6%
10.5%

1.0%-5.0%
12.8%
6.6%-6.9%
5.9%-8.2%
10.5%

Revenue growth is projected based on market share dynamics, ARPU growth and other factors.
The discount rate represents the current market assessment of the risks specific to the CGU, taking into consideration the time value
of money and individual risks to the underlying assets that have not been incorporated in the cash flow estimates. The discount rate
calculation is based on the specific circumstances of the Group and its operating segments and is derived from its weighted average cost of
capital (“WACC”). The WACC takes into account both debt and equity. The cost of equity is derived from the expected return on investment
by the Group’s investors. The cost of debt is based on the interest-bearing borrowings the Group is obliged to service. Segment-specific risk
is incorporated by applying individual beta factors. The beta factors are evaluated annually based on publicly available market data.
Annual salary growth is projected based on inflation estimates and management’s forecasted employment strategies.
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3.2.3. Goodwill impairment (continued)
After taking into account all of the factors mentioned above, management concluded that the carrying value of the broadband internet CGU
exceeded its recoverable amount. As a result of this analysis, management has recognised an impairment charge of 3,400 in the current
year which reduced goodwill carrying amount from 6,967 to 3,567 as at 31 December 2016.

3.3. Investments in associates and joint ventures
Accounting policies
Investments in associates and joint ventures which are jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The Group’s share of the profits and losses of these companies is included in the ‘Share
of loss of associates and joint ventures’ line in the accompanying consolidated income statement with a corresponding adjustment to
the carrying amount of the investment.
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated only to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the associates or joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates or joint ventures have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
Impairment
For associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method, at each reporting date the Group determines whether there is
objective evidence that the investment in the associate or joint venture is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the
amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the Group’s investment in the associate or joint venture and
its carrying value, then recognises its share of the loss as ‘Share of loss of associates and joint ventures’ in profit or loss.
Disclosures
Investments in associates and joint ventures are as follows:

Investee

LLC Euroset-Retail (“Euroset”), joint venture
JSC Sadovoe Koltso (“Garden Ring”), joint venture
Other investments - associates
Total

% equity
interest

50.000
49.999

31 December
2016

2015

  31,705
13,520
9
45,234

  34,174
13,529
182
47,885

Garden Ring
On 9 October 2015 MegaFon acquired 49.999% of the shares of Glanbury Investments Limited (“Glanbury”), which holds 100% of the
shares of JSC Sadovoe Koltso (“Garden Ring”), which owns and operates an office building in the center of Moscow.
Under the transaction, the Group was required to pay approximately $282 million (17,550 at the exchange rate as of the date of
acquisition) for its share in Glanbury and loans receivable from Garden Ring transferred from the seller as part of the deal (Note 3.4).
By 31 December 2015 the Group had paid $252 million (15,759 at the exchange rates as of the payment dates) to the seller, including
purchase of Garden Ring debt of $63.6 million (3,960 at the exchange rates as of the payment date), and the remaining portion of the
consideration was paid in October 2016 together with interest charged at 2.5% per annum.
Simultaneously MegaFon has entered into a joint venture agreement for the operation of the building with Sberbank Investments
Limited, a subsidiary of PJSC Sberbank (“Sberbank”), which owns another 49.999% in Glanbury, and with Woodsworth Investments
Limited, an independent real estate developer, which owns the remaining 0.002% in Glanbury.
MegaFon has signed a ten-year lease agreement with Garden Ring for a part of the building. This building will become the new corporate
headquarters of the Group, permitting the consolidation of the Group’s operations in Moscow into a single location. See Note 5.7 for the
applicable lease commitments. The remaining part of the building is mostly leased by Sberbank.
The Garden Ring joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements.
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3.3. Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)
The reconciliation of summarised financial information of Garden Ring to the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in the joint venture
is presented below:
31 December

Assets
Non-current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Other current assets
Liabilities
Non-current financial liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
Current financial liabilities
Total identifiable net assets
The Group’s share in the joint venture
The Group’s share of identifiable net assets
Excess of the consideration transferred over the Group’s share in the fair value of identifiable net assets
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest

2016

2015

49,231
1,227
98
50,556

49,295
1,630
770
51,695

(24,761)
(5,882)
(737)
(31,380)

(22,350)
(5,714)
(4,437)
(32,501)

19,176

19,194

49.999%
9,588
3,932
13,520

49.999%
9,597
3,932
13,529

The composition of the Group’s share of profit/(loss) of the joint venture accounted for using the equity method is as follows:
Year ended 31 December

Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive income/(loss) of Garden Ring
Amortisation of the Group’s purchase price allocation adjustments and application of the Group’s
accounting policies
Loss and total comprehensive loss of the joint venture
The Group’s share in the joint venture
The Group’s share of the loss and total comprehensive loss of Garden Ring

2016

2015

353

(65)

(372)
(19)
49.999%
(9)

(57)
(122)
49.999%
(61)

Euroset
Euroset is a retail chain, whose primary activities are sales of mobile phones, audio devices, other portable gadgets and accessories,
and provision of customer subscription and payment collection services for major telecommunication operators in Russia.
The Euroset joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements. The primary reason for the
investment in Euroset was to realise benefits from synergies related to a reduction of subscriber acquisition costs of the Group due to
implementation of a revenue sharing model, procurement savings and the opportunity for prominent marketing of MegaFon services in
Euroset outlets (Note 3.2.3).
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3.3. Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)
The reconciliation of the summarised financial information of Euroset to the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in the joint venture
is presented below:
31 December
2016

2015

30,874
10,999
16,818
58,691

34,970
8,363
18,733
62,066

(5,470)
(4,549)
(3,951)
(21,340)
(35,310)

(1,340)
(5,365)
(8,690)
(18,352)
(33,747)

Total identifiable net assets

23,381

28,319

The Group’s share in the joint venture
The Group’s share of identifiable net assets
Excess of the consideration transferred over the Group’s share in the fair value of identifiable net assets
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest

50%
11,691
20,014
31,705

50%
14,160
20,014
34,174

Assets
Non-current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Other current assets
Liabilities
Non-current financial liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
Current financial liabilities
Other current liabilities

The composition of the Group’s share of the profit/(loss) of the joint venture accounted for using the equity method is as follows:
Year ended 31 December
2016

2015

(Loss)/profit of Euroset
Amortisation of the Group’s purchase price allocation adjustments
and application of the Group’s accounting policies
Loss of the joint venture
Other comprehensive loss of Euroset
Total comprehensive loss of the joint venture

(1,663)

1,481

(3,272)
(4,935)
(3)
(4,938)

(2,604)
(1,123)
(54)
(1,177)

The Group’s share in the joint venture
The Group’s share of the loss and total comprehensive loss of Euroset

50%
(2,469)

50%
(588)

Total summarised profit and loss information of Garden Ring and Euroset is as follows:
Year ended 31 December
2016

2015

Revenue
Depreciation and amortisation
Interest income

63,060
(5,953)
387

58,361
(4,979)
1,319

Interest expense
Income tax

(3,311)
822

(1,232)
(846)
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3.4. Financial assets and liabilities
Accounting policies
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability, except for a financial asset or financial liability
accounted for at fair value through profit or loss, in which case transaction costs are expensed.
Subsequent measurement of financial assets and liabilities
The subsequent measurement of financial assets and liabilities depends on their classification as described below:
Fair value through profit or loss. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are classified as held for trading and
accounted for at fair value through profit or loss unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets and
liabilities accounted for at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value
with changes in fair value being recognised in profit or loss, in the ‘foreign exchange gain/(loss)’, ‘finance costs’ or ‘gain/(loss) on
financial instruments’ lines, depending on the nature of the changes.
●● Loans and receivables (assets) and loans and borrowings (liabilities). Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, loans and receivables and loans
and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate (“EIR”) method. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The
amortisation based on EIR is included in profit or loss.
●●

De-recognition of financial assets
A financial asset is de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or the Group has transferred its rights to
receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party
under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the
Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
Impairment of financial assets
A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if there is objective evidence of impairment
as a result of an event that occurred subsequent to the initial recognition of the asset. The Group assesses at each reporting date whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of assets may be impaired. For assets carried at amortised cost, the impairment
loss is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows at the original EIR
(excluding future expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of
an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss. Financial assets together with the associated allowance
are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the
Group. If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the relevant costs in profit or loss.
De-recognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is de-recognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. When an existing
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the de-recognition of the original liability and the recognition of a
new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised within profit or loss.
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3.4. Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
Disclosures
Financial assets are as follows:
31 December
2016

2015

19,352

21,156

—
—

1,456
1,456

435
435

1,903
1,903

—
5,095
7,340
2,771
15,206

12
20,224
4,061
3,419
27,716

Total other financial assets
Other current financial assets
Other non-current financial assets

15,641
(10,842)
4,799

31,075
(26,973)
4,102

Total financial assets
Total current financial assets
Total non-current financial assets

34,993
(30,194)
4,799

52,231
(48,129)
4,102

Trade and other receivables (Note 3.5)
Other financial assets:
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Cross-currency swap not designated as hedge
Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through OCI:
Cross-currency swap designated as cash flow hedge
Total financial assets at fair value through OCI
Loans and receivables at amortised cost:
Short-term bank deposits in Rubles
Short-term bank deposits in US dollars
Loans receivable from Garden Ring (Notes 3.3, 5.2) and Strafor
Other deposits
Total loans and receivables at amortised cost

Other deposits
Other deposits consist of cash advances received under certain contracts with customers and held in Company bank accounts as well
as cash reserved for deferred and contingent consideration settlements under the sale and purchase agreement with the sellers of
GARS (Note 5.3).
Loan receivable
In February 2016 the Group granted Strafor Commercial Ltd (“Strafor”) a loan in the amount of $43.8 million (2,657 at the exchange
rate as of 31 December 2016). The loan is repayable in February 2018 with interest at 7% paid annually. The loan was granted after
performance of all necessary credit checks and satisfactory assessment of refinancing risks. The loan is secured by a pledge of 50% of
the shares of Strafor and 50% of the shares of North Financial Overseas Corp., both companies being related to the Svyaznoy group, a
telecommunications retailer in Russia, and was granted in the context of the Group’s long term relations with the retailer. In February
2017 Strafor made an early repayment of $15 million (910 at the exchange rate as of 31 December 2016) out of the loan due in February
2018, together with interest.
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3.4. Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
Financial liabilities are as follows:
31 December
2016

2015

43,581

45,961

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Loans and borrowings:
Bank loans and borrowings
Ruble bonds
Total loans and borrowings
Total current loans and borrowings
Total non-current loans and borrowings

179,115
55,998
235,113
(39,389)
195,724

182,107
37,573
219,680
(47,037)
172,643

Other financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Finance lease obligations (Notes 3.1, 5.7)
Deferred and contingent consideration (Notes 3.3, 5.3)
Long-term accounts payable
Due to employees and related social charges, non-current
Total financial liabilities at amortised cost

4,173
284
335
—
239,905

3,504
3,209
1,048
109
227,550

—
—

7
7

5,399
—
5,399

15
41
56

Total other financial liabilities
Other current financial liabilities
Other non-current financial liabilities

10,191
(3,538)
6,653

7,933
(2,900)
5,033

Total financial liabilities
Total current financial liabilities
Total non-current financial liabilities

288,885
(86,508)
202,377

273,574
(95,898)
177,676

Trade and other payables

Other financial liabilities at fair value:
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss:
Cross-currency swap not designated as hedge
Total financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through OCI:
Foreign currency forwards and cross-currency swap designated as cash flow hedges
Interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges
Total financial liabilities at fair value through OCI

GARS earn-out settlement
In May 2016 the Group paid $5 million (325 at the exchange rate as of the payment date) previously being held in escrow to the sellers
of GARS in full settlement of the contingent consideration payable to such sellers under the GARS sale and purchase agreement based
upon operating results (Note 5.3). The final settlement approximated the estimate of the amount which would be paid made at 31
December 2015. The remaining deferred consideration of $4.3 million (261 at the exchange rate as of 31 December 2016) is due to be paid
in September 2017.
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3.4.1. Cash and cash equivalents
Accounting policies
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and deposits in banks with original maturities of three months or less.
Disclosures
Cash and cash equivalents are as follows:
31 December

Cash at bank and on hand in
Rubles
US dollars
Euros
HK dollars
Short-term bank deposits in
Rubles
US dollars
Total cash and cash equivalents

2016

2015

1,948
247
74
1

4,012
777
77
19

860
28,792
31,922

2,251
10,313
17,449

3.4.2. Loans and borrowings
Principal amounts outstanding under loans and borrowings are as follows:
31 December

Bank loans and borrowings:
Ruble loans – fixed rates
US dollar loans – floating rates
US dollar loans – fixed rates
Euro loans – floating rates
Total bank loans and borrowings
Ruble bonds
Total
Total current
Total non-current

Interest Rate

Maturity

2016

2015

7.39%-11.82%
LIBOR+0.955%LIBOR+4.2%
1.92%-2.29%
EURIBOR+0.56%EURIBOR+2.05%

2017-2023

127,203

96,893

2017
2017-2022

38,661
7,347

68,745
14,047

2017-2024

8,103
181,314

3,433
183,118

55,000

36,751

236,314
(39,385)
196,929

219,869
(46,072)
173,797

8.00%-11.40%

2019-2026 with a put option
in 2017-2021

Bank loans
In July 2016 the Group negotiated the extension of the tenor of two ruble loans. The maturity date for a 29,500 loan, previously payable
in 2018, has been extended to 2022, and the maturity date for a 37,700 loan has been extended to 2023 from 2020.
Also in July 2016 the Group signed a new credit facility agreement for the total amount of up to 30,000 maturing in 2022, which has
subsequently been fully drawn.
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3.4.2. Loans and borrowings (continued)
Ruble bonds
On 12 April 2016 and 11 October 2016 the Group re-purchased 1,636,213 and 114,424, respectively, Series 05 Ruble denominated bonds
at their nominal value of 1,000 Rubles under a mandatory put options exercisable by the bond holders following coupon rate resets on
23 March 2016 and on 21 September 2016, respectively.
The Group initially issued 10,000,000 Series 05 Ruble denominated bonds in October 2012. In October 2014 the Group re-purchased
8,249,296 Series 05 Ruble denominated bonds at their nominal value of 1,000 Rubles pursuant to a mandatory put option following a
coupon rate reset on 24 September 2014.
The re-purchased bonds are kept in treasury and may be further placed in the market should the Group decide to do so. The remaining
67 Series 05 Ruble denominated bonds will continue trading in the market with a coupon rate of 0.1% per annum for a period of six
months, after which the rate will be subject to further reset and the bonds will be subject to a further put option.
On 12 May 2016, the Group placed its Series BO-001P-01 Ruble denominated exchange bonds, in an aggregate principal amount of
10,000. The bonds have a term of 3 years following placement. The coupon rate was set at 9.95% per annum, payable semi-annually.
On 10 June 2016, the Group placed its Series BO-001P-02 Ruble denominated exchange bonds, in an aggregate principal amount of
10,000. The bonds have a term of 10 years following placement with two call options exercisable by the Group on the fifth and seventh
anniversary of the placement date. The coupon rate was set at 9.90% per annum for the first five years after the placement. The coupon
rate for the two years after the first call option will be determined based upon the two-year Russian government bonds (“OFZ”) yield
plus 100 basis points. The coupon rate for the three years after the second call option will be determined based upon the three-year
OFZ yield plus 100 basis points. The coupon will be paid quarterly.
Proceeds from the bonds are being used for general corporate purposes.
Covenant requirements
The majority of the Company’s financing facilities contain restrictive covenants, which, among other things, with certain permitted
exceptions, limit the Group’s ability to incur debt, encumber or dispose of assets, undertake mergers and acquisitions, lend to unrelated
parties and make material changes in the nature of the business without prior consent from the required majority of lenders. In addition,
these financing facilities require the Group to meet various financial covenants.
3.4.3. Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
Accounting policies
Derivative financial instruments, which include foreign currency forwards, cross-currency swaps and interest rate swaps, are initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently re-measured at their fair value. Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices and DCF models as appropriate.
Derivatives are included within financial assets at fair value through profit or loss when fair value is positive and within financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss when fair value is negative. Certain derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are
treated as separate derivatives when their economic risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contract and
the combined instrument is not measured at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognised in profit or loss.
The Group has derivatives which it designated as cash flow hedges and derivatives which it did not designate as hedges. At the
inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the hedge relationship to which the Group wishes to
apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. Such hedges are expected to be
highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in cash flows and are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that they actually have
been highly effective throughout the financial reporting periods for which they were designated.
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in
OCI. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss. For derivative instruments that are not
designated as hedges or do not qualify as hedged transactions, the changes in the fair value are reported in the profit or loss.
The Group uses derivatives to manage interest rate and foreign currency risk exposures. The Group does not hold or issue derivatives
for trading purposes.
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3.4.3. Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities (continued)
Disclosures
The Group had the following outstanding interest rate swaps, cross-currency swaps and foreign currency forwards stated at their
notional amounts:
31 December 2016

Foreign currency forwards:
designated as cash flow hedge
Total foreign currency forwards
Cross-currency swaps:
designated as cash flow hedge
not designated as cash flow hedge
Total cross-currency swaps
Interest rate swaps:
      designated as cash flow hedge
Total interest rate swaps

31 December 2015

Original
currency

Millions,
original currency

US Dollar

466

28,266
28,266

—

—
—

US Dollar
US Dollar

15
—

910
—
910

46
225

3,353
16,399
19,752

US Dollar

—

—
—

217

15,816
15,816

Millions, Rubles

Millions,
original currency

Millions, Rubles

Foreign currency forwards designated as cash flow hedges
During the year ended 31 December 2016 the Group entered into a number of US dollar forward purchase agreements that limit the
exposure from changes in US dollar exchange rates on certain long-term debts. The forwards have been designated and qualified as
cash flow hedges of foreign currency risk. There has been no ineffective portion in the reporting period. The hedges are expected to
affect consolidated income statement within the next eighteen months from 31 December 2016.
Cross-currency swap designated as a cash flow hedge
At 31 December 2016 the Group had a fixed-to-fixed rate cross-currency swap agreement in place that limits the exposure from changes
in US dollar exchange rates on certain long-term debt. The swap has been designated and qualified as a cash flow hedge of foreign
currency risk. There has been no ineffective portion in the reporting period. The hedge is expected to be settled and affect consolidated
income statement in February 2017.
Cash flow hedges of interest rate risk
During the year ended 31 December 2016 the Group settled all of its interest rate swaps that limited the exposure from changes in
interest rates on certain floating rate debt.
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3.4.3. Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities (continued)
The table below presents the effect of the Group’s derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges on the consolidated
income statement and consolidated statement of other comprehensive income for the years ended 31 December:

Foreign currency forwards:
Amount of loss recognised in cash flow hedge reserve
Amount of loss reclassified from accumulated cash flow hedge reserve into foreign exchange loss,
net
Deferred tax on movements in OCI
Cross-currency swap:
Amount of (loss)/gain recognised in cash flow hedge reserve
Amount of loss/(gain) reclassified from accumulated cash flow hedge reserve into foreign exchange
loss, net
Amount of loss reclassified from accumulated cash flow hedge reserve into finance costs
Deferred tax on movements in OCI
Interest rate swaps:
Amount of gain/(loss) recognised in cash flow hedge reserve
Amount of (gain)/loss reclassified from accumulated cash flow hedge reserve into finance costs
Deferred tax on movements in OCI
Total in OCI

2016

2015

(5,887)

—

3,736
430
(1,721)

—
—
—

(316)

825

245
28
9
(34)

(1,067)
58
37
(147)

3
(170)
33
(134)

(35)
216
(36)
145

(1,889)

(2)

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments
During the year the Group settled two cross-currency swaps as well as entered into and settled a number of foreign currency forwards
that had not been designated as hedging instruments.
Gain/(loss) on financial instruments
Gains and losses on other financial intruments are recognised in profit or loss as follows:

Change in fair value of financial instruments measured through profit or loss:
Cross-currency swaps not designated as hedges
Foreign-currency forwards not designated as hedges
Total (loss)/gain on financial instruments, net
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3.4.4. Fair values
Accounting policies
The fair value of financial instruments recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position and/or disclosed in the notes that
are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined by reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations,
without any deduction for transaction costs. For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using
appropriate valuation techniques, which include using recent arm’s length market transactions, reference to the current fair value of
another instrument that is substantially the same, a DCF analysis, or other valuation models.
The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment
is required in establishing fair values. The judgments include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility.
Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation technique:
Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either directly or
indirectly;
Level 3: techniques which use inputs that have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observable market
data.
Set out below is a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments that are carried in
the consolidated financial statements:
Carrying amount

Fair value

31 December

Financial assets:
Financial assets at fair value profit or loss:
Cross-currency swaps not designated as hedges
Financial assets at fair value through OCI:
Cross-currency swap designated as cash flow hedges
Loans and receivables at amortised cost:
Short-term bank deposits
Loans receivable from Garden Ring (Note 3.3, 5.2) and
Strafor
Other deposits
Total financial assets
Financial liabilities:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Loans and borrowings
Ruble bonds
Deferred and contingent consideration
Finance lease obligations
Long-term accounts payable
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss:
Cross-currency swap not designated as hedges
Financial liabilities at fair value through OCI:
Interest-rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges
Foreign currency forwards and cross-currency swap
designated as cash flow hedges
Due to employees and related social charges, non-current
Total financial liabilities
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31 December

2016

2015

2016

2015

Level 2

—

1,456

—

1,456

Level 2

435

1,903

435

1,903

Level 2

5,095

20,236

5,095

20,236

Level 2
Level 2

7,340
2,771
15,641

4,061
3,419
31,075

7,340
2,534
15,404

4,061
3,178
30,834

Level 2
Level 1
Level 3
Level 3
Level 3

179,115
55,998
284
4,173
335

182,107
37,573
3,209
3,504
1,048

186,775
55,411
284
4,173
384

185,841
35,696
3,209
3,504
1,200

Level 2

—

7

—

7

Level 2

—

41

—

41

Level 2
Level 3

5,399
—
245,304

15
109
227,613

5,399
—
252,426

15
109
229,622
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3.4.4. Fair values (continued)
Valuation techniques and assumptions
Management has determined that cash, short-term deposits, trade receivables, trade payables, bank overdrafts and other current
liabilities approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.
The Group, using available market information and appropriate valuation methodologies, where they exist, has determined the
estimated fair values of its financial instruments. However, judgment is necessarily required to interpret market data to determine the
estimated fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the Group could realise
in a current market exchange.
The GARS escrow account (included in ‘Other deposits’ in the “Fair values” table above) holds cash reserved for deferred and contingent consideration
settlements under the sale and purchase agreement with the sellers of GARS (Note 5.3). The fair value of the account approximates its carrying value.
The fair value of loans receivable from Garden Ring and Strafor approximates their carrying value.
The fair value of the Group’s other deposits relating to cash received under certain contracts with customers is determined by using a DCF method
using a discount rate that reflects the bank deposit rates the Group would get in the market as at the end of the reporting period.
The fair values of the Group’s loans and borrowings and other liabilities carried at amortised cost, except for market quoted bonds, are determined by
using a DCF method using a discount rate that reflects the issuer’s borrowing rate as at the end of the reporting period. The own nonperformance risk
as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 was assessed to be insignificant.
The Group, in connection with its current activities, is exposed to various financial risks, such as foreign currency risks, interest rate risks and credit
risks. The Group manages these risks and monitors their exposure on a regular basis (Note 5.4).
The fair values of foreign currency forwards, cross-currency swaps and interest rate swaps are based on a forward yield curve and represent the
estimated amount the Group would receive or pay to terminate these agreements at the reporting date, taking into account foreign exchange spot
and forward rates, current interest rates, creditworthiness, nonperformance risk, and liquidity risks associated with current market conditions.
Disclosures
The following tables summarise the valuation of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis by the fair
value hierarchy:
Crosscurrency
swaps

Total
financial
assets

Foreign
currency
forwards

Interest
rate/crosscurrency
swaps

Total
financial
liabilities

31 December 2016
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
Total as of 31 December 2016

—
435
—
435

—
435
—
435

—
(5,393)
—
(5,393)

—
(6)
—
(6)

—
(5,399)
—
(5,399)

31 December 2015
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
Total as of 31 December 2015

—
3,359
—
3,359

—
3,359
—
3,359

—
—
—
—

—
(63)
—
(63)

—
(63)
—
(63)

During the years ended 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 there were no transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy.
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3.5. Trade and other receivables
The ageing analysis of trade and other receivables that are not impaired is as follows:
31 December

Neither past due nor impaired
Past due but not impaired:
Less than 30 days
30 - 90 days
More than 90 days
Total trade and other receivables

2016

2015

16,539

17,675

1,093
1,217
503
19,352

2,159
1,037
285
21,156

The following table summarises the changes in the impairment allowance for trade and other receivables for the years ended 31 December:

Balance at beginning of year
Change in the impairment allowance
Accounts receivable written off
Balance at end of year

2016

2015

2,217
2,038
(1,477)
2,778

1,522
1,643
(948)
2,217

3.6. Inventory
Accounting policies
Inventory, which primarily consists of telephone handsets, portable electronic devices, accessories and USB modems, is stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted-average cost method. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
Disclosures
The amount of inventory write-down to net realisable value and other inventory losses recognised in ‘Cost of revenue’ line in the
consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2016 is 1,652 (2015: 2,004).

3.7. Non-financial assets and liabilities
Accounting policies
Value-added tax
Value added tax (“VAT”) related to revenues is generally payable to the tax authorities on an accrual basis when invoices are issued
to customers. VAT incurred on purchases may be offset, subject to certain restrictions, against VAT related to revenues, or can be
reclaimed in cash from the tax authorities under certain circumstances.
Management periodically reviews the recoverability of VAT receivables and believes the amount reflected in the consolidated financial
statements is fully recoverable within one year.
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3.7. Non-financial assets and liabilities (continued)
Disclosures
Current non-financial assets are as follows:
31 December

Prepayments for services
VAT receivable
Deferred costs
Prepaid taxes, other than income tax
Prepayments for inventory
Total current non-financial assets

2016

2015

2,373   
1,252   
1,033   
172
221
5,051

3,994   
1,481   
972
163
39
6,649

Non-current non-financial assets are as follows:
31 December

Deferred costs, non-current
Long-term advances
Total non-current non-financial assets

2016

2015

2,560   
479
3,039

2,441   
453
2,894

Current non-financial liabilities are as follows:
31 December

Advances from customers
VAT payable
Current portion of deferred revenue
Taxes payable, other than income tax
Other current liabilities
Total current non-financial liabilities

2016

2015

12,044   
3,206   
1,425   
1,475   
36
18,186

12,809   
4,482   
1,677   
1,542   
57
20,567

Non-current non-financial liabilities are as follows:
31 December

Deferred revenue
Other non-current liabilities
Total non-current non-financial liabilities
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3.8. Provisions
Accounting policies
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised
for future operating losses.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. Any increase in the
provision due to passage of time is recognised as finance costs.
Decommissioning provision
The Group has certain legal obligations related to rented sites for base stations and masts, which include requirements to restore
the real estate upon which the base stations and masts are located upon their being decommissioned. Decommissioning costs
are determined by calculating the present value of the expected costs to settle the obligation using estimated cash flows, and are
recognised as part of the cost of the particular asset. The cash flows are discounted at the current pre-tax rate that reflects the risks
specific to the decommissioning liability. The unwinding of the discount is expensed in profit or loss as finance costs. The estimated
future costs of decommissioning are reviewed annually and adjusted as appropriate. Changes in estimated liability resulting from
revisions of the estimated future costs or in the discount rate applied are added to or deducted from the cost of the asset, except where
a reduction in the provision is greater than the unamortised capitalised cost, in which case the capitalised cost is reduced to nil and the
remaining adjustment is recognised in the consolidated income statement.
In determining the fair value of the provision, assumptions and estimates are made in relation to discount rates, the expected cost to
dismantle and remove the asset from the site, including long-term inflation forecasts, and the expected timing of those costs.
Disclosures
The following table describes the changes to the decommissioning provision for the years ended 31 December:

Balance at beginning of year
Revisions in estimated cash flows
Net additions
Unwinding of discount
Balance at end of year

2016

2015

4,603   
(1,288)
90
483
3,888

4,958   
(1,097)
140
602
4,603

Revisions in estimated cash flows during the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 in the table above mainly relate to a decrease
in expected decommissioning costs per item, which reduced buildings and structures cost in property and equipment (Note 3.1) by 330
(2015: 314) and depreciation expense in profit or loss by 958 (2015: 783).

4. Equity
Accounting policies
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
The Company’s own issued equity instruments that are reacquired (treasury shares) are recognised at cost and deducted from equity.
No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments. Any
difference between the carrying amount and the consideration received upon any subsequent sale is recognised in equity.

www.megafon.com

MEGAFON

41

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

4. Equity (continued)
Disclosures
Share capital
As of 31 December 2016 and 2015, the Company had 100,000,000,000 authorised ordinary shares with a par value of 0.1 Rubles, of which
595,700,967 were issued and outstanding and 24,299,033 were classified as treasury shares (held through its wholly owned subsidiary,
MegaFon Investments (Cyprus) Limited).
Annual dividend payment
On 30 June 2016 the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of the Company approved the payment of a final dividend for the 2015
financial year in the amount of 28,820, or 48.38 Rubles per ordinary share (or GDR), and an interim dividend for the first quarter of 2016 in
the amount of 4,801, or 8.06 Rubles per ordinary share (or GDR). Such dividends were paid in full in August 2016.
On 9 December 2016 an Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders of the Company approved an additional 14,410 dividend
payment, equivalent to 24.19 Rubles per ordinary share (or GDR), based on the Company’s performance through the end of the third
quarter of 2016, of which 11,571, or 19.42 Rubles per ordinary share (or GDR), was paid in December 2016.
Accordingly, the total amount of dividends declared in 2016 is 48,031, or 80.63 Rubles per ordinary share (or GDR). Of that, the amount
paid in 2016 was 45,192, or 75.86 Rubles per ordinary share (or GDR). At 31 December 2016 dividends payable to shareholders amounted
to 2,839.
Other capital reserves
The disaggregation of other capital reserves and changes of other comprehensive income by each type of reserve in equity is shown
below:

As of 1 January 2015
Foreign currency translation
Change in fair value of cash
flow hedges (Note 3.4.3)
As of 31 December 2015
Foreign currency translation
Change in fair value of cash
flow hedges (Note 3.4.3)
As of 31 December 2016

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve

Cash flow
hedge reserve

Share-based
compensation
reserve

Transactions
with noncontrolling
interests

Reserve fund

Total other
capital
reserves

(1,091)
(792)

172
—

1,488
—

(23)
—

15
—

561
(792)

—
(1,883)
692

(2)
170
—

—
1,488
—

—
(23)
—

—
15
—

(2)
(233)
692

—
(1,191)

(1,889)
(1,719)

—
1,488

—
(23)

—
15

(1,889)
(1,430)

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements
of foreign operations.
The cash flow hedge reserve is used to record the accumulated impact of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges (Note 3.4.3).
The share-based compensation reserve is used to recognise the value of equity-settled share-based payment transactions provided to
employees, including key management personnel, as part of their remuneration (Note 5.1).
The reserve on transactions with non-controlling interests is used to record differences arising as a result of transactions with noncontrolling interests that do not result in a loss of control.
The reserve fund has been established according to the requirements of Russian law and is used to cover the Company’s losses,
redemption of its bonds and re-purchase of its own shares in the absence of other capital resources.
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5. Additional Notes
5.1. Share-based compensation
Accounting policies
Equity-settled transactions
The cost of equity-settled transactions, such as stock options under the CEO long-term incentive plan referred to below, is determined
by the fair value at the date when the grant is made using an appropriate valuation model. That cost is recognised, together with a
corresponding increase in other reserves in equity, over the period in which the service conditions are fulfilled in employee benefits
and related social charges expense (Note 2.3). No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest. The dilutive effect of
outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings per share, although there were no
potentially dilutive securities outstanding at 31 December 2016 or 2015.
Cash-settled transactions
The cost of cash-settled transactions, such as phantom stock options under the 2012 and 2013 long-term incentive plans, is measured
initially at fair value at the grant date using an appropriate valuation model. This fair value is expensed over the period until the vesting
date with recognition of a corresponding liability. The liability is re-measured to fair value at each reporting date up to, and including the
settlement date, with changes in fair value recognised in employee benefits and related social charges expense (Note 2.3).
The Group measures the cost of equity-settled and cash-settled share-based payment transactions with employees by reference to
the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. For cash-settled awards the fair value is re-measured
every reporting period. Estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions requires a determination of the most appropriate
valuation model, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This estimate also requires determination of the most
appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the share option or share-based transaction, volatility and
dividend yield and making assumptions about them.
Disclosures
Long-term incentive programmes 2012 and 2013
In 2012 and 2013 the Company’s Board of Directors approved two long-term incentive programmes (LTI 2012 and LTI 2013) for certain
key executive and senior level employees under which the parties selected to participate are awarded rights to phantom shares.
The maximum number of phantom shares which could be awarded under each plan was 1.1% of the share capital of the Company (or
14,000,000 phantom shares in the aggregate) at the base price of $17.86 per share under LTI 2012 and $24.25 per share under LTI 2013.
Each plan had a three year duration and rights to phantom shares vest, and payments due to awardees are settled, in the second and
third years. Awardees receive payments on the basis of the difference between the base price and the weighted-average price of the
Company’s shares in the period between 15 January and 15 March in the relevant year of vesting (the strike price).
In 2015 the Board of Directors of the Company approved an amendment to the terms of LTI 2012 and LTI 2013 to change the base price
and the strike price for the awards outstanding as at 31 December 2014 and 2015 to 555 Rubles per share and 744 Rubles per share,
respectively. The awards were settled when due, in May 2015 and May 2016.
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5.1. Share-based compensation (continued)
LTI 2012

Employee benefits expense/(reversal) recognised during the year ended
31 December, including related social charges
The fair value of rights  outstanding at 31 December, Rubles per right to
phantom share
The carrying amount of the liability at 31 December, including related social
charges

LTI 2013

2016

2015

2016

2015

—

569

149

98

—

—

—

102

—

—

—

102

CEO long-term incentive plan
During his time as the CEO of the Company, Mr. Ivan Tavrin, among other options, was granted 15,500,000 options to buy up to 2.5% of
the total issued shares at the IPO price ($20 per share). The options could be exercised up until May 2017.
In December 2014 Mr. Tavrin exchanged his 2.5% interest in the Company and the 15,500,000 unexercised options for an interest in USM
Holdings Limited (“USMHL”) (Note 5.2). The options are currently out-of-the-money and remain unexercised as at 31 December 2016.

5.2. Related parties
The following tables provide the total amount of transactions that have been entered into with related parties and balances of
accounts with them for the relevant financial years:
For the years ended
31 December
2016

2015

Revenues from USM group
Revenues from Telia group
Revenues from Euroset

16
557
401
974

52
640
110
802

Services from USM group
Services from Telia group
Services from Euroset
Services from Garden Ring

1,144
983
1,226
1,567
4,920
1,293

979
1,436
1,228
320
3,963
1,826

Other non-operating expenses from USM group

31 December
2016

2015

Due from USM group
Due from Telia group
Due from Euroset
Due from Garden Ring

4
253
333
4,509
5,099

477
305
403
4,643
5,828

Due to USM group
Due to Telia group
Due to Euroset
Due to Garden Ring

1,468
322
27
—
1,817

809
414
12
63
1,298
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5.2. Related parties (continued)
Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties
Outstanding balances at the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 are unsecured. There have been no guarantees provided or
received for any related party receivables or payables. As of 31 December 2016 and 2015, the Group has not recorded any impairment of
receivables relating to amounts owed by related parties. This assessment is undertaken each financial year by examining the financial
position of the related party and the market in which the related party operates.
USM group
The outstanding balances and transactions with USM group relate to operations with Garsdale Services Investment Limited
(“Garsdale”), the Group’s parent, USMHL, an indirect owner of Garsdale, and their consolidated subsidiaries.
The Group purchased billing system and related support services from PeterService, another member of the USM group, in the amount
of 7,254 and 5,343 during 2016 and 2015, respectively.
The Group is a member of the Not-for-profit Partnership “Development, Innovations, Technologies” (the “Partnership”) which was
established by companies in the USM group. The Partnership is required to incur education, science and other social costs as well as to
maintain certain social infrastructure assets in Skolkovo Innovation Centre which are not owned by MegaFon and not recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The Group’s accrued contributions to the Partnership of 1,293 during the year ended 31
December 2016 (2015: 1,826) are included into other non-operating expenses in the consolidated income statement.
Telia group
The outstanding balances and transactions with Telia group relate to operations with various companies in that group. Revenues and
cost of services are principally related to roaming agreements between MegaFon and members of the Telia group located outside
Russia and a wireline interconnection agreement with Telia Carrier Russia.
Euroset
Euroset is the Group’s joint venture with PJSC VimpelCom (Note 3.3). The Group has a dealership agreement with Euroset which qualifies
as a related party transaction.
Garden Ring
Garden Ring, which owns and operates an office building in the center of Moscow, is the Group’s joint venture with Sberbank. The Group
has a lease agreement with Garden Ring which qualifies as a related party transaction. This building will become the new corporate
headquarters of the Group, permitting the consolidation of the Group’s operations in Moscow into a single location. The Group also has
a loan receivable from Garden Ring. The balance due from Garden Ring at 31 December 2016 consists of the loan receivable.
Compensation to key management personnel
Members of the Board of Directors and the Management Board of the Company are the key management personnel. The amounts
recognised as employee benefits expense to key management personnel of the Group for the years ended 31 December are as follows:

Short-term employee benefits
Share-based compensation (Note 5.1)
Long-term incentive programme
Total
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81
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641
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5.3. Business combinations
Accounting policies
The Group applies the acquisition method of accounting and recognises the assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling interest in the acquired company at the acquisition date, measured at their fair values as of that date.
The identification of assets acquired and liabilities assumed as a result of those acquisitions, determining the fair value of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed as well as any contingent consideration and quantification of resulting goodwill requires management’s
judgment and often involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions, including assumptions with respect to future cash
inflows and outflows, discount rates, terminal growth rates, licence and other asset useful lives and market multiples, among other
items.
Results of subsidiaries acquired and accounted for by the acquisition method have been included in operations from the relevant date of
acquisition.
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes in
the fair value of the contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument within the scope of IAS 39,
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, are recognised in accordance with IAS 39 in the consolidated income statement.
If the contingent consideration is not within the scope of IAS 39, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate IFRS. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in general and administrative expenses.
2016 acquisitions
In 2016 the Group acquired 100% interest in LLC Atlant Telecom, an alternative wireline and broadband internet service provider in
Moscow and Moscow region, for a cash consideration of 62. The resulting goodwill is 40.
2015 acquisitions
GARS
On 18 September 2015 the Group acquired 100% of the shares of GARS, which is a building local exchange carrier providing a full range
of fixed-line telecommunication services to the tenants of business centers in Moscow and Saint Petersburg, for a total consideration
having a fair value of 2,213 at the date of acquisition, consisting of cash consideration of 1,542 and deferred and contingent
consideration of 671.
The primary reason for the acquisition was to further enhance the Group’s position in the fixed-line telecommunications market in
Moscow and Saint Petersburg.
Contingent consideration in the amount of $5 million (325 at the exchange rate as of the payment date), based on operating results, was
paid in full in 2016 (Note 3.4). Deferred consideration of approximately $4.3 million (261 at the exchange rate as of 31 December 2016) is
payable on or prior to the second anniversary of the acquisition date.
The valuation of certain assets acquired and liabilities assumed had not been finalised as of the date the 2015 consolidated financial
statements were authorised for issue; therefore certain intangible and tangible assets, deferred taxes and goodwill of GARS recognised
in the 2015 consolidated financial statements were based on a provisional assessment of their fair values. In September 2016 the
valuation was completed and the acquisition date fair values did not change.
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5.3. Business combinations (continued)
The table below includes the allocation of the purchase price to the acquired net assets of GARS based on their fair values as of the
date of acquisition.
Assets
Property and equipment

328

Intangible assets

458

Deferred tax assets

24

Other current assets

179

Cash and cash equivalents

75
1,064

Liabilities
Loans and borrowings

158

Deferred tax liabilities

80

Non-current non-fiancial liabilities

17

Current liabilities

194
449

Total identifiable net assets at fair value

615

Goodwill arising on acquisition

1,598

Purchase consideration transferred

2,213

The goodwill recognised is attributable primarily to expected synergies from the acquisition and the value to be attributed to the
workforce of GARS.
Startel
In December 2015 the Group acquired 100% interest in CJSC Startel, which provides a full range of fixed-line telecommunication services
to business clients in Moscow and Tver, for a cash consideration of 48. The resulting goodwill is 43.

5.4. Financial risk management
The Group’s principal financial liabilities, other than derivatives, comprise loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables. The main
purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance the Group’s operations. The Group has trade and other receivables, and cash and shortterm deposits that derive directly from its operations. The Group also enters into derivative transactions.
The Group is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s senior management oversees the management of
these risks. The Group’s senior management is supported by the Finance and Strategy Committee of the Board of Directors that
advises on financial risks and the appropriate financial risk governance framework for the Group. The Finance and Strategy Committee
provides assurance to the Group’s senior management that the Group’s financial risk-taking activities are governed by appropriate
policies and procedures and that financial risks are identified, measured and managed in accordance with the Group’s policies. All
derivative activities for risk management purposes are carried out by specialist teams that have the appropriate skills, experience and
supervision. It is the Group’s policy that no trading in derivatives for speculative purposes shall be undertaken.
The Company’s Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks, which are summarised below.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
prices. Market price risks that mostly impact the Group comprise two types of risk: interest rate risk and currency risk. Financial
instruments affected by market risk include: loans and borrowings, deposits and derivative financial instruments.
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5.4. Financial risk management (continued)
The sensitivity analyses in the following sections relate to the position as of 31 December in 2016 and 2015. The sensitivity analyses
have been prepared on the basis that the amount of net debt, the ratio of fixed-to-floating interest rates of the debt and derivatives and
the proportion of financial instruments in foreign currencies are all constant and on the basis of the hedge designations in place at 31
December 2016 and 2015.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long-term debt
obligations with floating interest rates.
The Group manages its interest rate risk by having a balanced portfolio of fixed and variable rate loans and borrowings. To manage this,
the Group enters into interest rate swaps, under which the Group agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between
fixed and variable rate interest amounts calculated by reference to an agreed-upon notional principal amount. These swaps are
designated to hedge underlying debt obligations.
At 31 December 2016 approximately 80% of the Group’s borrowings are at a fixed rate of interest (2015: 78%).
Interest rate sensitivity
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on loans and borrowings, after the
impact of hedge accounting. With all other variables held constant, the Group’s profit before tax is affected through the impact on
floating rate borrowings as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2016
US Dollar
US Dollar
Year ended 31 December 2015
US Dollar
US Dollar

Increase/decrease
in basis points

Effect on profit
before tax

+20
-20

(79)
79

+95
-95

(418)
418

The analysis is prepared assuming the amount of variable rate liability outstanding at the balance sheet date was outstanding for the
whole year.
Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
foreign exchange rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to the Group’s financing
activities (when cash deposits and loans and borrowings are denominated in a different currency from the Group’s functional currency).
A significant portion of the Group’s liabilities is denominated in US dollars or Euro. If the Ruble continued to fluctuate against the US
dollar or Euro, this could negatively impact the Group’s earnings.
To the extent permitted by Russian law, the Group keeps part of its cash and cash equivalents in US dollar and Euro interest bearing
accounts to manage against the risk of Ruble decline or devaluation, and also to match its foreign currency liabilities.
To minimise its foreign exchange exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, the Group is migrating most of its foreign
currency linked costs to Ruble based costs to balance assets and liabilities and revenues and expenses denominated in Rubles. In
order to manage the foreign currency risk the Group is also focused on increasing the proportion of Ruble loans through refinancing and
hedging activities.
Before 2015 the Group entered into three long-term cross-currency swaps and in 2016 it entered into a number of foreign currency
forward purchase agreements. These derivative financial instruments were used to limit exposure to changes in foreign currency
exchange rates on certain of the Group’s long-term debts denominated in foreign currencies (Note 3.4.3).
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5.4. Financial risk management (continued)
Overall, the share of Ruble loans (including the effect of foreign currency forwards and cross-currency swaps) amounted to 89% as of 31
December 2016 (63% at 31 December 2015).
In accordance with the Group’s policies, the Group does not enter into any treasury management transactions of a speculative nature.
Foreign currency sensitivity
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the US dollar and Euro exchange rates, with all
other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value and future cash flows of monetary assets
and liabilities) after the impact of hedge accounting. The Group’s exposure to foreign currency changes for all other currencies is not
material.
Change in foreign
exchange rates

Effect on profit
before tax

Year ended 31 December 2016
US Dollar
US Dollar
Euro
Euro

+20%
-20%
+20%
-20%

3,935
(3,935)
(1,606)
1,606

Year ended 31 December 2015
US Dollar
US Dollar
Euro
Euro

+50%
-50%
+50%
-50%

(24,807)
24,807
(2,063)
2,063

The movement in the pre-tax effect is a result of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the Company.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a
financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily for trade receivables) and from its financing
activities, including deposits with banks and financial institutions and other financial instruments.
The Group deposits available cash with various banks in the Russian Federation. Deposit insurance is either not offered or only offered
in de minimis amounts in respect of bank deposits within the Russian Federation. To manage the concentration of credit risk, the
Group allocates available cash to domestic branches of international banks and a limited number of Russian banks. A majority of these
Russian banks are either owned or controlled by the Russian government.
The Group extends credit to certain counterparties, principally international and national telecommunications operators, for roaming
services, to certain dealers and to customers on post-paid tariff plans. The Group minimises its exposure to the risk by ensuring that
credit risk is spread across a number of counterparties, and by continuously monitoring the credit standing of counterparties based on
their credit history and credit ratings reviews. Other preventative measures to minimise credit risk include obtaining advance payments,
bank guarantees and other security.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial assets disclosed in Note 3.4.
The Group considers the concentration of risk with respect to trade receivables to be low, as its customers are located in several
jurisdictions and industries and operate in largely independent markets. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables
are limited given that the Group’s customer base is large and unrelated. Due to this management believes there is no further credit risk
provision required in excess of the normal impairment allowance for trade and other receivables.
The Group monitors its credit risk with regards to loans extended to Garden Ring (Notes 3.3, 5.2) and Strafor (Note 3.4). This assessment
is undertaken each financial year by examining the financial position of the debtor and the market in which the debtor operates. As at 31
December 2016 and 2015, no impairment losses were identified.
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5.4. Financial risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk
The Group monitors its risk relating to a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity planning tool. The Group’s objective is to maintain a
balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank loans. Approximately 17% of the Group’s loans and borrowings
will mature in less than one year at 31 December 2016 (2015: 21%) based on the carrying value of borrowings reflected in the consolidated
financial statements. The Group assessed the concentration of risk with respect to refinancing its debt and concluded it to be low.
As of 31 December 2016 and 2015, the Group has net current liability position. The Group believes it will continue to be able to generate
significant operating cash flows and that adequate access to sources of funding and significant amount of available credit lines are sufficient
to meet the Group’s requirements. Additionally, the Group can defer capital expenditures if necessary in order to meet short-term liquidity
requirements. Accordingly, Group management believes that cash flows from operating and financing activities will be sufficient for the Group
to meet its obligations as they become due.
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments.

31 December 2016
Loans and borrowings
Trade and other payables
Finance lease obligations
Derivative financial liabilities
Long-term accounts payable
Deferred consideration
Total 31 December 2016
31 December 2015
Loans and borrowings
Trade and other payables
Finance lease obligations
Deferred and contingent
consideration
Long-term accounts payable
Derivative financial liabilities
Total 31 December 2015

Less than 1 year

1-3 years

4-5 years

More than 5 years

Total

61,614
43,581
464
3,248
—
284
109,191

105,147
—
827
2,151
335
—
108,460

70,427
—
827
—
—
—
71,254

83,730
—
7,214
—
—
—
90,944

320,918
43,581
9,332
5,399
335
284
379,849

61,582
45,961
387

147,587
—
925

48,135
—
925

4,248
—
5,986

261,552
45,961
8,223

2,865
—
63
110,858

399
986
—
149,897

—
107
—
49,167

—
—
—
10,234

3,264
1,093
63
320,156

Capital management
Capital includes equity attributable to the Group’s shareholders. The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that
it maintains a healthy credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to secure access to debt and capital markets at all times and maximise
shareholder value. The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions.
The Net Debt to Adjusted OIBDA ratio is an important measure to assess the capital structure in light of the need to maintain a strong credit
rating. Net Debt represents the carrying amount of interest-bearing loans and borrowings less cash and cash equivalents and current and
non-current bank deposits. As of 31 December 2016 the Net Debt to Adjusted OIBDA ratio was 1.62 (2015: 1.37).
Some loan agreements also have covenants based on Net Debt to Adjusted OIBDA ratios. The Group believes it has complied with all the
capital requirements imposed by external parties.
Collateral
The Group did not pledge collateral as security for its financial liabilities at 31 December 2016 or 2015, except certain assets purchased
under finance leases or on deferred payment terms (Note 3.1 and 3.4).
100% of the shares of Garden Ring (Note 3.3) have been pledged as security for loans received by Garden Ring from Sberbank, which are
due to be repaid in 2026.
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5.5. Group information
The consolidated financial statements of the Group include the following significant subsidiaries and joint ventures of PJSC MegaFon:
Legal entity

Principal activities

OJSC MegaFon Retail
LLC NetByNet Holding
LLC Scartel
LLC MegaFon Finance
MegaFon Investments (Cyprus)
Limited

subsidiary
subsidiary
subsidiary
subsidiary

JSC MegaLabs
CJSC TT mobile
LLC Euroset-Retail (Note 3.3)
JSC Sadovoe Koltso (Note 3.3)

subsidiary
subsidiary
joint venture
joint venture

subsidiary

Retail
Broadband internet
Wireless services
Financing
Transactions with
treasury shares
New telecom services
development
Integrated telecom
Retail
Corporate office

Country of
incorporation

% equity interest
2016

2015

Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia

100
100
100
100

100
100
100
100

Cyprus

100

100

100
75
50
49.999

100
75
50
49.999

Russia
Tajikistan
Russia
Russia

The Company holds interests in material subsidiaries through a number of intermediary holding companies.

5.6. Segment information
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker
(“CODM”). The CODM is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments. The Company’s CEO
has been designated as the CODM.
The Group manages its business primarily based on eight geographical operating segments within Russia, which provide a broad
range of voice, data and other telecommunication services, including wireless and wireline services, interconnection services, data
transmission services and VAS. The CODM evaluates the performance of the Group’s operating segments based on revenue and
Adjusted OIBDA. Total assets and liabilities are not allocated to operating segments and are not analysed by the CODM.
Operating segments with similar economic characteristics, such as forecasted Adjusted OIBDA, have been aggregated into an
integrated telecommunication services segment, which is the only reportable segment. Around 1.4% of the Group’s revenues and
results are generated by segments outside of Russia. No single customer represents 10% or more of the consolidated revenues.
Reconciliation of consolidated Adjusted OIBDA to consolidated profit before tax for the years ended 31 December:

Adjusted OIBDA
Depreciation
Amortisation
Goodwill impairment
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Finance costs
Finance income
Share of loss of associates and joint ventures
Other non-operating loss
(Loss)/gain on financial instruments, net
Foreign exchange gain/(loss), net
Profit before tax

www.megafon.com

2016

2015

121,139   
(51,925)
(7,881)
(3,400)
(849)
(19,094)
1,810
(2,651)
(2,906)
(235)
1,822
35,830

132,357   
(48,173)
(7,313)
—
(913)
(14,779)
2,508
(649)
(2,949)
1,502
(10,041)
51,550
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5.7. Commitments, contingencies and uncertainties
Russian operating environment
During 2015 and 2016, the Russian economy was negatively impacted by a significant drop in crude oil prices and a devaluation of the
Russian Ruble, as well as sanctions imposed on Russia by several countries. As at 31 December 2016 the key rate of the Central Bank of
Russia was at 10%.
The combination of the above resulted in reduced access to capital, a higher cost of capital, increased inflation and uncertainty
regarding economic growth, which could negatively affect the Group’s future financial position, results of operations and business
prospects. Management believes it is taking appropriate measures to support the sustainability of the Group’s business in the current
circumstances.
4G/LTE licence capital commitments
In July 2012, the Federal Service for Supervision in Communications, Information Technologies and Mass Media granted MegaFon a
licence and allocated frequencies to provide services under the 4G/LTE standard in Russia.
Under the terms and conditions of this licence, the Company is obligated to provide 4G/LTE services in each population center with over
50,000 inhabitants in Russia by 2019. The Company is also obligated to make capital expenditures of at least 15,000 annually toward
the 4G/LTE roll-out until the network is fully deployed, to clear frequencies allocated to the military at its own cost and to compensate
other operators for surrendering frequencies in an aggregate amount of 401. As of the date these consolidated financial statements
were authorised for issue the Group was fully compliant with these capital expenditure commitments.
Equipment purchases agreements
In 2014 the Group entered into two separate 7-year agreements with two suppliers to purchase equipment and software for 2G/3G/4G
network construction and modernisation. The software usage agreements contain various termination options, however the Group is
specifically committed under the agreements to pay at least 3 years’ worth of fees plus an amount equal to 50-60% of the fees due for
years four through seven of the agreements for each base station in use as at the date of termination while receiving a credit against
these commitments for fees already paid. The amount of the commitments at 31 December 2016 is 7,459 (2015: 14,406).
Social infrastructure expenses
From time to time, the Group may determine to maintain certain social infrastructure assets which are not owned by the Group and
not recorded in the consolidated financial statements as well as to incur education, science and other social costs. Such activities may
be conducted in collaboration with non-governmental organisations. These expenses are presented in other non-operating loss in the
consolidated income statement (Note 5.2).
Taxation
Russian and Tajik tax, currency and customs legislation, including transfer pricing legislation, are subject to varying interpretations
and changes, which can occur frequently. Management’s interpretation of such legislation as applied to transactions and activities
of the Group may be challenged by the relevant regional and federal authorities. Recent events within Russia and Tajikistan suggest
that the tax authorities are taking a more assertive position in their interpretation and enforcement of the legislation and as a result,
it is possible that transactions and activities that have not been challenged in the past may now be challenged. Therefore, significant
additional taxes, penalties and interest may be assessed.
Fiscal periods remain open to review by the authorities in respect of taxes for the three calendar years preceding the current year.
Under certain circumstances reviews may cover longer periods.
The Group’s management believes that its interpretation of the relevant legislation is appropriate and is in accordance with the current
industry practice, and that the Group’s tax, currency and customs positions will be sustained. However, the interpretations of the
relevant authorities could differ.
As of 31 December 2016 the Group’s management estimated the possible effect of additional taxes, before fines and interest, if any, on
these consolidated financial statements, if the authorities were successful in enforcing different interpretations being taken by them, to
be in the amount of up to approximately 558.
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5.7. Commitments, contingencies and uncertainties (continued)
Finance lease commitments
The Group has finance lease contracts for various items of telecommunications assets. Under these leases the lessor retains title to
the leased assets as security for the Group’s obligations thereunder. Future minimum lease payments under finance leases together
with the present value of the net minimum lease payments as of 31 December 2016 are as follows:
2016

Within one year
After one year but not more than five years
More than five years
Total minimum lease payments
Less amounts representing finance charges
Present value of minimum lease payments

2015

Minimum
payments

Present
value of
payments

Minimum
payments

Present
value of
payments

464
1,654
7,214
9,332
(5,159)
4,173

428
1,157
2,588
4,173
—
4,173

387
1,850
5,986
8,223
(4,719)
3,504

387
1,239
1,878
3,504
—
3,504

Operating lease commitments
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases.
Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the period of the lease.
The Group normally enters into operating leases with a term not exceeding one year. Accordingly, the Group’s operating lease
commitments at 31 December 2016 and 2015 approximate the annual lease expense (Note 2.3).
MegaFon has a ten-year lease agreement with Garden Ring for a part of the building (Note 3.3). Future minimum rentals payable under
this non-cancellable operating lease as at 31 December is, as follows:

Within one year
After one year but not more than five years
More than five years

2016

2015

1,508
6,338
6,861
14,707

1,478
6,214
8,493
16,185

Litigation
The Group is not a party to any material litigation, although in the ordinary course of business, the Company and some of the Group’s
subsidiaries may be party to various legal and tax proceedings, and subject to claims, certain of which relate to the developing markets
and evolving fiscal and regulatory environments in which they operate. In the opinion of management, the Group’s and its subsidiaries’
liabilities, if any, in all pending litigation, other legal proceedings or other matters, will not have a material effect on the financial
condition, financial performance or liquidity of the Group.
Anti-terror laws
On 7 July 2016 the President of the Russian Federation signed a package of anti-terror laws. The package requires telecommunications
operators to store all data, including that from phone calls, messages, and data transmitted by customers for certain time periods,
effective from 1 July 2018. This would require the Group to establish additional data centers and invest in data-processing technologies.
The potentially significant capital expenditures required to do this would negatively impact the Group’s cash flow generation, diverting
resources from investment in growth, which could potentially impact future revenues and Adjusted OIBDA.
The details of the package are currently under discussion and may undergo changes. The Group will estimate the potential effects of
the laws on its capital commitments when more information about the final form of the anti-terror package is received.
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5.8. Events after the reporting date
MGL acquisition
On 9 February 2017 the Group completed acquisition of 15.2% of the shares, representing 63.8% voting rights of Mail.ru Group Limited
(“MGL”), which is a leading company in the Russian-speaking internet market, from three entities owned by USM group, the Group’s
indirect controlling shareholder, for a total consideration of $740 million (44,154 at the respective exchange rates), consisting of cash
consideration of $640 million (38,088 at the exchange rate as of the payment date) and deferred consideration of $100 million (6,066 at
the exchange rate as of 31 December 2016) payable on or prior to the first anniversary of the acquisition date.
The primary reason for the acquisition was to achieve significant synergies for both companies, including enhancement of MegaFon’s
digital offering and its distribution, launch of special VKmobile offering for users of VK social network, and other potential initiatives.
Based on the current set-up of the Board of Directors of MGL, the Company concluded that it has ability to direct relevant activities of
MGL and therefore has control over the investee. Accordingly, the Group will consolidate the investee from the beginning of 2017 when
control was obtained.
The Company is currently evaluating the purchase price allocation between the specific assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
In February 2017 the Group signed a new Ruble denominated credit facility agreement for the total amount of 35,000 maturing in 2024,
which has been drawn in full to finance MGL acquisition.
SMARTS acquisition
In February 2017 MegaFon acquired 1,800 MHz band spectrum in the Ulyanovsk and Penza regions and the Republic of Mordovia through
the purchase of 100% of the shares of JSC SMARTS-Ulyanovsk, JSC SMARTS-Penza and JSC SMARTS-Saransk, the subsidiaries of
Russian regional mobile operator JSC SMARTS. The Group’s management concluded that the assets and activities of the acquired
companies are not capable of being conducted and managed as a business, accordingly the acquisition of SMARTS will be accounted
for as an acquisition of assets (similar to the 2015 SMARTS acquisition as per Note 3.2.1). The purchase price totaled 780 at the date of
acquisition, consisting of cash consideration of 480 and a deferred payment of 300 which is due to be paid within two months from the
date of acquisition.
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